Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-16-2018

State v. Delarosa Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45119

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

In these consolidated appeals, Erick Delarosa appeals from the district court's denial of his Rule 35 motion for reduction of sentence in Docket Number 45119 and from his judgment of conviction and the denial of his Rule 35 motion for reduction of sentence in Docket Number 45120. He asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence in Docket Number 45120 and that the district court abused its discretion by denying his Rule 35 motions in both cases.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

In Docket Number 45119, Mr. Delarosa pleaded guilty to forgery in 2012 and the district court imposed a unified sentence of ten years, with three years fixed, and the court retained jurisdiction. (R., p.73.) This charge stemmed from an allegation that Mr. Delarosa had forged checks on his step brother's checking account. (2012 Presentence Investigation Report (*hereinafter*, 2012 PSI, p.3.)) He filed a Rule 35 motion for reduction of sentence, which was denied. (R., p.84.) Following the period of retained jurisdiction, the district court suspended the sentence and placed Mr. Delarosa on probation. (R., p.88.)

Approximately three years later, the State filed a report of probation violation; Mr. Delarosa eventually entered into plea agreement in which he would admit to violating his probation. (R., p.175.) The district court revoked Mr. Delarosa's probation and executed the underlying sentence. (R., p.190.) Mr. Delarosa then filed a Rule 35 motion for reduction of sentence. (R., p.186.) The district court denied the motion. (R., p.203.) Mr. Delarosa filed a notice of appeal timely only from the order denying the Rule 35 motion. (R., p.205); *See* I.A.R. 14(a); *State v. Thomas*, 146 Idaho 592 (2008).)

In Docket Number 45120, Mr. Delarosa was charged with one count of forgery and one count of issuing an insufficient funds check in 2016. (R., p.238.) These charges stemmed from allegations that Jim Hahaj had sold a washer and dryer set to Mr. Delarosa and that Mr. Delarosa paid with an insufficient funds check. (2016 Presentence Investigation Report (*hereinafter*, 2016 PSI, p.4.) Mr. Delarosa also signed someone else's name on the check and admitted opening up fraudulent accounts with this name. (2016 PSI, p.4.) He entered into the same plea agreement as the 2012 case, in which he pleaded guilty to forgery. (R., p.271.) The district court imposed a unified sentence of seven and one-half years, with two and one-half years fixed. (R., p.288.) He

filed a Rule 35 motion for reduction of sentence, which the district court denied. (R., pp.278, 298.) Mr. Delarosa timely appealed from the judgment and the denial of the Rule 35 motion. (R., p.300.)

In Docket Number 45119, mindful of the fact this was his second Rule 35 motion, Mr. Delarosa contends that the district court abused its discretion by denying the motion. In Docket Number 45120, Mr. Delarosa contends that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence and by denying his Rule 35 motion.

ISSUES

- I. In Docket Number 45120, did the district court abuse its discretion when it imposed a unified sentence of seven and one-half years, with two and one-half years fixed, upon Mr. Delarosa following his plea of guilty to forgery?
- II. In Docket Numbers 45119 and 45120, did the district court abuse its discretion when it denied Mr. Delarosa's Rule 35 motion for reduction of sentence?

ARGUMENT

I.

In Docket Number 45120, The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed A Unified Sentence Of Seven and One-Half Years, With Two and One-Half Years Fixed, Upon Mr. Delarosa Following His Plea Of Guilty To Forgery

“It is well-established that ‘[w]here a sentence is within statutory limits, an appellant has the burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion on the part of the court imposing the sentence.’” *State v. Pierce*, 150 Idaho 1, 5 (2010) (quoting *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997) (alteration in original)). Here, Mr. Delarosa's sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum. Accordingly, to show that the sentence imposed was unreasonable, Mr. Delarosa “must show that the sentence, in light of the governing criteria, is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts.” *State v. Strand*, 137 Idaho 457, 460 (2002).

“‘Reasonableness’ of a sentence implies that a term of confinement should be tailored to the purpose for which the sentence is imposed.” *State v. Adamcik*, 152 Idaho 445, 483 (2012) (quoting *State v. Stevens*, 146 Idaho 139, 148 (2008)).

In examining the reasonableness of a sentence, the Court conducts an independent review of the entire record available to the trial court at sentencing, focusing on the objectives of criminal punishment: (1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public; (3) possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing.

Stevens, 146 Idaho at 148. “A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution.” *State v. Delling*, 152 Idaho 122, 132 (2011).

At the sentencing hearing, counsel emphasized that Mr. Delarosa’s criminal history was due largely to his addiction to methamphetamine. (Tr., p.11, Ls.1-6.) Counsel for the State noted that it had not seen a criminal history from someone like Mr. Delarosa, who had a college degree; counsel for Mr. Delarosa noted, “I think that’s just reflective of the fact that addiction can hit anybody. Nobody is immune to addiction.” (Tr., p.11, Ls.1-3.) Counsel continued, “a degree doesn’t do it; a religious background doesn’t do it; racial background doesn’t do it; statute is the community doesn’t do it. Addiction can hit anybody.” (Tr., p.11, Ls.4-6.) Counsel emphasized that Mr. Delarosa had continued to struggle with his addiction and “he had slipped back into a relapse, was struggling with drugs again at the time this happened.” (Tr., p.11, Ls.12-25.)

Further, counsel informed the court that “every option that [Mr. Delarosa] has wanted me to look at or pursue has been focused on treatment.” (Tr., p.12, Ls.19-20.) Mr. Delarosa had secured funding for intensive outpatient treatment in the community through BPA. (Tr., p.13, Ls.4-7.) At the time of sentencing, Mr. Delarosa had checked with BPA, who indicated that

funding was available for up to fifteen months of outpatient treatment. (Tr., p.13, Ls.8-11.) Further, counsel represented that Mr. Delarosa had housing and employment available to him and that he was always considered a good employee at this current job. (Tr., p.14, Ls.1-9.) Considering that Mr. Delarosa had arranged for outpatient treatment, counsel requested that the court imposed a sentence of five years, with two years fixed, and that the court place Mr. Delarosa on probation. (Tr., p.16, Ls.11-18.)

Mr. Delarosa addressed the district court at the sentencing hearing. He stated,

Well, about the washer and dryer part, when – sorry. On the washer and dryer part, I – he did try to get to me. But I was having problems with my cell phone. I don't know.

I was trying to get my mom to get back at me to see if she was going to give me money so I could pay him back. But that didn't happen.

So I did ignore his call because, like I said, I was under the influence of meth and I was just pretty much sorry that I couldn't give him the right answer to him and answer to know if I was going to pay or not.

But on – on that behalf, about all this, I'm – am – really am sorry what I did with him, with my PO, when I went and tried to get help from her. I just wanted her just to help me to get into treatment and all that stuff.

So she tried to do that, but I never knew this was going to happen and go to this length of time. So that's the only thing else.

(Tr., p.20, Ls.4-24.) Mr. Delarosa also apologized for wasting the Court's time. (Tr., p.21, L.3-4.)

It is clear that the charges in this case stemmed from Mr. Delarosa's methamphetamine addiction and that he took the steps necessary to secure intensive outpatient treatment. Mr. Delarosa had a desire to confront his addiction. Further, he apologized to the Court. Considering this information, Mr. Delarosa respectfully submits that the district court abused its

discretion by imposing a unified sentence of seven and one-half years, with two and one-half years fixed.

II.

In Docket Numbers 45119 and 45120, The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied Mr. Delarosa's Rule 35 Motion For Reduction Of Sentence

“If the sentence was not excessive when pronounced, the defendant must later show that it is excessive in view of new or additional information presented with the motion for reduction.” *State v. Trent*, 125 Idaho 251, 253 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing *State v. Hernandez*, 121 Idaho 114 (Ct. App. 1991)). If the defendant fails to make such a showing, the denial of the motion is not an abuse of discretion. *State v. Shiloff*, 125 Idaho 104, 107 (1994); *State v. Hernandez*, 121 Idaho 114 (Ct. App. 1991).

At the Rule 35 hearing, counsel informed the Court that Mr. Delarosa had been treatment-oriented and treatment-focused since being back in custody. (Tr., p.27, Ls.18-20.) Mr. Delarosa recognized a need for treatment and had been active in putting together opportunities for treatment. (Tr., p.27, L.25 – p.28, L.2.) There was still funding available for Mr. Delarosa to obtain intensive outpatient treatment. (Tr., p.28, Ls.5-6.) Counsel emphasized that Mr. Delarosa had “a lengthy period of sobriety under his belt right now because of his custody.” (Tr., p.28, Ls.11-12.)

In Docket Number 45119, mindful of the fact that Mr. Delarosa had previously filed a Rule 35 motion in his case, he submits that the district court abused its discretion by denying his successive Rule 35 motion. (R., p.84; *see* ICR 35(b).) In Docket Number 45120, Mr. Delarosa submits that the district court abused its discretion by denying his Rule 35 motion.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Delarosa respectfully requests that this Court reduce his sentence as it deems appropriate. Alternatively, he requests that the orders denying his Rule 35 motions be reversed and his cases remanded for further proceedings.