Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-13-2018

State v. Delarosa Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45119

Issue

Has Delarosa failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion, either by imposing a unified sentence of seven and one-half years, with two and one-half years fixed in case 45120, upon his guilty plea to forgery, or by denying his Rule 35 motions for reduction of his sentences in both case 45120 and case 45119?

Delarosa Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Sentencing Discretion

In case 45119, Delarosa pled guilty to forgery and the district court imposed a unified sentence of 10 years, with three years fixed, and retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.73-75.) Delarosa filed a Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence, which the district court denied. (R., pp.80-81,

84-85.) After a period of retained jurisdiction, the district court suspended the balance of Delarosa's sentence and placed him on probation for four years. (R., pp.88-91.)

Three years later, Delarosa's probation officer filed a report of probation violation alleging Delarosa had violated his probation by consuming methamphetamine and Adderall and committing a new crime: forgery. (R., pp.121-35.) Delarosa admitted to having violated his probation in case 45119 and pled guilty to forgery in case 45120. (R., pp.175-78, 271-74.) The district court revoked Delarosa's probation and executed his sentence in case 45119 (R., pp.190-92) and imposed a concurrent unified sentence of seven and one-half years, with two and one-half years fixed in case 45120 (R., pp.288-90). Delarosa filed Rule 35 motions for reduction of his sentences in both cases, which the district court denied. (R., pp.186-87, 203-04, 278-79, 298-99.) Delarosa filed a notice of appeal timely from the order denying his Rule 35 motion in case 45119. (R., pp.300-03.) He also filed a notice of appeal timely from both the judgment and the order denying his Rule 35 motion in case 45120. (R., pp.205-08.)

Delarosa asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence in case 45120 in light of his substance abuse issues, desire for treatment, and purported acceptance of responsibility. (Appellant's brief, pp.3-6.) Delarosa has failed to establish an abuse of discretion.

When evaluating whether a sentence is excessive, the court considers the entire length of the sentence under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. McIntosh, 160 Idaho 1, 8, 368 P.3d 621, 628 (2016); State v. Stevens, 146 Idaho 139, 148, 191 P.3d 217, 226 (2008). It is presumed that the fixed portion of the sentence will be the defendant's probable term of confinement. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 687, 391 (2007). Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion.

McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (citations omitted). To carry this burden the appellant must show the sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts. Id. A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution. Id. The district court has the discretion to weigh those objectives and give them differing weights when deciding upon the sentence. Id. at 9, 368 P.3d at 629; State v. Moore, 131 Idaho 814, 825, 965 P.2d 174, 185 (1998) (court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the objectives of punishment, deterrence and protection of society outweighed the need for rehabilitation). “In deference to the trial judge, this Court will not substitute its view of a reasonable sentence where reasonable minds might differ.” McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (quoting Stevens, 146 Idaho at 148-49, 191 P.3d at 226-27). Furthermore, “[a] sentence fixed within the limits prescribed by the statute will ordinarily not be considered an abuse of discretion by the trial court.” Id. (quoting State v. Nice, 103 Idaho 89, 90, 645 P.2d 323, 324 (1982)).

The maximum prison sentence for forgery is 14 years. I.C. § 18-3604. The district court imposed a unified sentence of seven and one-half years, with two and one-half years fixed, which falls well within the statutory guidelines. (R., pp.288-90.) Delarosa’s sentence is also appropriate in light of his ongoing criminal behavior and his failure to rehabilitate while in the community.

Delarosa’s criminal record demonstrates his disregard for the law and the terms of community supervision. Delarosa has accumulated four misdemeanor convictions and, with the instant offenses, five felony convictions. (PSI, pp.34-37.) Delarosa’s felony convictions include: theft by acquiring lost property, fraud – possess forgery device, possession of a controlled substance, and two counts of forgery. (PSI, pp.35-37.) Delarosa has had multiple

opportunities to rehabilitate in the community and on retained jurisdiction. (PSI, pp.5-6, 37.) Additionally, incarceration has failed to deter Delarosa as he has been in prison two different times, for a total of nine years. (PSI, p.37.) While in prison from 2000-2004, Delarosa received multiple DOR's for sexual acts, disobedience, physical contact, simple assault, possession of contraband, ordinance violations, manipulation of staff, rule violations, failure to comply, and false statement. (PSI, p.6.) While Delarosa does have substance abuse issues and showed remorse for his actions, such do not outweigh the seriousness of the offense nor his demonstrated inability or unwillingness to conform his behavior to the law.

At sentencing, the district court articulated the correct legal standards applicable to its decision and addressed the seriousness of the offense, Delarosa's ongoing criminal offending, the risk he poses to society, and his failure to rehabilitate or be deterred despite prior treatment opportunities and legal sanctions. (1/30/17 Tr., p.21, L.14 – p.23, L.13.) The state submits that Delarosa has failed to establish that his sentence is excessive for reasons more fully set forth in the attached excerpt of the sentencing hearing transcript, which the state adopts as its argument on appeal. (Appendix A.)

Next, "mindful of the fact that [he] had previously filed a Rule 35 motion in" case 45119, Delarosa nevertheless asserts that the district court abused its discretion by denying his latest Rule 35 motions for a reduction of his sentences in both case 45119 and case 45120 because he "had been treatment-oriented and treatment-focused since being back in custody." (Appellant's brief, p.6.) Delarosa's arguments fail.

Delarosa has failed to establish the district court abused its discretion by denying his Rule 35 motion in case 45119 because, as Delarosa all but concedes on appeal, the motion was impermissibly successive and, as such, the district court was without jurisdiction to even

consider it. See I.A.R. 35(b) (“no defendant may file more than one motion seeking a reduction of sentence under this Rule”); State v. Bottens, 137 Idaho 730, 52 P.3d 875 (Ct. App. 2002) (“the prohibition of successive motions under Rule 35 is a jurisdictional limit”).

Delarosa has also failed to show any abuse of discretion in the denial of his Rule 35 motion in case 45120. If a sentence is within applicable statutory limits, a motion for reduction of sentence under Rule 35 is a plea for leniency, and this court reviews the denial of the motion for an abuse of discretion. State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho, 201, 203, 159 P.3d 838, 840 (2007). To prevail on appeal, Delarosa must “show that the sentence is excessive in light of new or additional information subsequently provided to the district court in support of the Rule 35 motion.” Id. Delarosa has failed to satisfy his burden.

Information with respect to Delarosa’s desire for treatment was before the district court at the time of sentencing and, as such, was not new information that entitled Delarosa to a reduction of sentence. (PSI, pp.43, 70.) Furthermore, the availability of treatment options does not demonstrate that Delarosa’s sentence is excessive. See, e.g., State v. Charboneau, 124 Idaho 497, 500, 861 P.2d 67, 70 (1993) (“While the appellant points to the evidence in the record that he is capable of being rehabilitated ... his possibility of rehabilitation, standing alone, is not enough to meet his burden of showing unreasonableness...”); State v. Wargi, 119 Idaho 292, 294, 805 P.2d 498, 500 (Ct. App. 1991) (“Sentence of confinement is not rendered unreasonable simply because it will arguably have a negative effect on prisoner's rehabilitation.”).

The district court considered all of the relevant information and appropriately concluded that Delarosa’s sentence of two and one-half years fixed “is appropriate” and even “modest in some sense.” (Tr., p.33, Ls.16-17.) Delarosa has not shown that he was entitled to a reduction of sentence simply because of his desire for treatment. Given any reasonable view of the facts,

Delarosa has failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion by denying his Rule 35 motions for a reduction of his sentences.

Conclusion

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm Delarosa's conviction and sentence in case 45120 and the district court's order denying Delarosa's Rule 35 motions for a reduction of his sentences in both cases.